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I. INTRODUCTION

A. Background

The New York City Department of General Services, Division of
Real Property, is plenning to dispose of property in the Borough
of Manhattan designated as block 106, lot 22. The property fronts
on Dover Street between Water and Pearl Streets (see Figure 1).
This documentary research study and archaeclogical assessment
will aasist the DRP to meet the conditions of CEGR certification
({CEQR #90-042M) for the proposed action.

The documentary research included review of both secondary and
primary documents, including maps, deeds, tax asggesaments, street
directories, and records of the Department of Buildinga. A site
examination was conducted on April 6, 1990. The study objectives
are to determine, to the extent poesible, the land use and
conatruction history of the property and to assess its
archaeological potential.

B. Changeg 1in Block 106 Canfiquratio

lmar Al N SmarlL A S g S a=mms

The present lot 22, block 106, as shown on the most recent real
egtate atlas (Sanborn 1989 - see Figure 2), is an approximately
triangular shaped property extending approximately 261 feet along
Dover Street from Pearl Street on the northeast to Water Street
on the southwest (for ease of reference in the remainder of this
report, the Dover Street frontage will be considered the eastern
gide and the Pearl Street frontage the northern side of the
property). The map shova the Pearl Street frontage of lot 22
extending only some il feet nine inches west of Dover Street to
the lot 20 boundary at the tip of the "triangle®, with the Water
Street frontage at the base of the "triangle® extending
approximately 32 1/2 feet west of Dover Street to the border of
lot 2 (#274 Dover Street). All of the structures which once stood
on this property have been demolished. It should be noted that
the atructures shovn on lot 22 on the 1989 map are, in fact, no
longer standing. The southern end of the present lot 22 is at the
level of Water Street and ia used as a parking area (see Plate
1). A small portion of the adjacent fenced area is also within
the boundaries of lot 22. The northern portion of lot 22 contains
a concrete and asphalt ramp elevated above the level of Dover
Street. A fence at the Pearl Street end of the ramp prevents
vehicular accesa (see Plates 2 and 3).

The present configuration of lot 22 is the result of the
construction of Brooklyn Bridge access ramps approximately 30
years ago. A 1938 map located in the Borough of Manhattan
Topographic Bureau showa the resulting changes= in the
configuration of the eastern end of block 106. A copy of this map
is included here ag Figure 3. The map showe the lot configuration



prior to the City of New York'’s acquisition of property. A tract
of land immediately east of the present lot 22 was acquired for
the widening of Dover Street neceasitated by the construction of
the acceess rampsa. The land acquired constituted the eastern
portiona of lotas 22, 23, 26, 27, 1 and 2. The City also acquired
the westernmost portions of these lotse, which constitute the
property now designated aa lot 22. Examination of the site
indicates that not all of the property acquired for the widening
of Dover Street was used for that purpose. Thus there is a narrow
strip of wvacant land between the present lot 22 and the existing
Dover Street sidewalk {(see Plates 1-3 and Figures 2 and 3). We
have indicated the approximate location of the preaent Dover
Street zidewalk on Figure 3.

Previous consolidations of property had occurred prior to 1958,
g0 that the land shown as lot 23 on Figure 3 at one time included
four separate lote, and the ca. 1958 lot 22 previously consiated
of two separate lote. Thug the history of the present lot 22 is
actually the history of nine separate building lotas. A= the
following diacussion indicates, the building frontage and
addresses appear to have heen congistent from the late 18th
through the 20th centuries. The buildings on lote 1 and 2 fronted
on Water Street and were numbered 278 and 276 Water Street, the
hbuildinga on lot 22 fronted Pearl Street and were numbered 338
and 340 Pearl Street. The buildings on lots 23, 26, and 27
fronted on Dover Street were numbered 2, 4, 6, 8, 10 and 12 Dover
Street. The lots will be referenced in thise report by street
address, rather than by the 20th century lot designations. The
present lot 22 will be referred to as the study area. It should
be noted that the property at 340 Pearl Street (the easternmost
portion of former lot 22), falls entirely outside the boundaries
of the present lot 22 and will not be considered in detail in
thia study.



I1. DOCUMENTARY RESEARCH

A. Prehistoric Period

Since lower Manhattan has undergone intensive development within
the past 300 years, information on prehistoric sites derives
largely from ethnohistoric sourcee as well ag from archaeclogical
remaing encountered during construction. A compilation of such
data wa= made by Bolton (1920, 1922) earlier in this century.

The nearest prehistoric occupation to the study area ghown by
Bolton (1922 -~ see Figure 4) is "Werpces", located "north of the
Collect pond® (in the vicinity of Broadwsay). According to Bolton
(1920:303) shell heaps were reported in this area in colonial
times. Magges of shell were apparently also uncovered in this
area during street grading (Belton 1922). Boltaon’'s reconstruction
also shows an Indian path leading from the Werpoes area to the
shoreline just weat of the former location of Roosevalt Street
(now the site of the Alfred E. Smith houses), approximately 1 1/2
blocks east of block 106. A gtream and marsh area, known as
"Wolphertas V1y" bordered this path on the east. The bluff which
extended along the shoreline in the vicinity of the present block
106 (pee below), may have been attractive to prehistoric peoples
aa a campsite location since it would have provided access to the
subsistence resources cf the East River ag well as the stream and
marsh, and would alao have provided an observation point
overlooking the River.

e s i L M e e T e - —— i e e e i T . S e e i i B o

Beginning in the late 19th century, the East River shoreline of
lover Manhattan was extended cutward by means of extensive land-
filling. The original shoreline extended mslong the general line
of the presgent Pearl Street, which in the late 17th and 18th
centuriea was named Queen Street. Several reconstructions of the
original shoreline have been made. Stokes’ (1918:III) Landmark
map {(gee Figure 5) showvsg the shoreline paseing through the
eagtern portion of block 106 approximately 1/3 of the way from
Pearl Street to Water Street. A New York City Department of

Dockas Map (1873) showvs the high water mark approximately 2/3 of
the distance from Pearl to Water Street, with the low water mark
at the northern side of Water Street., The ca. 1718 Burgie view
(gee Figure 8a and discues=sion below) indicatea that the shoreline
at the locaticon of the study area was characterized by bluffs
overlooking the river. Queen Street (Pearl Street) ran along the
top of these bluffs. Consideration of the present Street
elevationa (see below) suggeets that the Burgis viewvw is accurate
in this regard. The perspective of the Burgisgs view does not
provide an indication of haw far the bluff top extended =south of
Queen Street. It 18 likely that prior to landfilling, the land at
the bluff bamse was characterized by a beach environment. The high
vater mark may have been at the bluff base, or there may have
been a 8trip of dry beach between the bluff base and the high



water mark.

C. 17th Century

Prior to 1640, the portion of the East River shoreline included
within the study area formed part of an approximately 35 acre
farm that had been partly cleared and cultivated by David
Provoost. This tract extended from the approximate area of City
Hall Park to the River and from the vicinity of Ferry and Ann
Streets on the south to Jamee Street on the north (Innes
1902:398). This same property was sold in 1642 by Director Kieft
and the New Amgterdam Council to Govert Loockermans and Cornelis
Leendertsen. The deed conveys ’A dwelling house situated on the
East river of New NHetherland on the Island of Manhattans,
together with the land thereto belonging, ae the =zame iz fenced
in by David Provoost’ (Stokes 1927 V¥iI: 117). Innes {(1902:338)
places the Provoost farmhouse "at a point which is believed to be
in the interior of the block between the modern Pearl and Water
streeta, Dover Street, and Peck Slip" (i.e. block 106). This
author notes that a ’small cherry and apple orchard’ covered the
land eastward of the house including the later site of Dover
Street.

By the late 1630’3 settlements had been established along the
present Brooklyn shoreline of the East River and a ferry was
needed to connect thease settlements with New Amzterdam. This
ferry was established prior to 1643, the Nev Amsterdam terminus
being located on the Loockermans and Leendertsen farm. Cornelis
Dircksen served as the first ferryman (Innes 1902:340). Stokes
(1922 IV:'143, 188) places the site of this first ferry to Long
I=zland at the corner of Dover and Pearl Streets while Innes
(1902:6) locates it "near the present Dover Street". Hovever, it
ghould be noted that Booth (1867:262-263) places the =site of the
first Long Island ferry at a point "below Peck Slip" and Wilson
{1893 I:366) locates it at Peck Siip.

In 1646, Loockermans and Dirck Cornelissen (Cornelis
Leenderteen'a gon) sold the porticon of their farm which includes
the study area to William Goulder. The tract is described by
Stokes (1927 VI:117) as extending from Ferry Street on the west
to Frankfort and Dover Streetse on the east. The Goulder tract
apparently reverted to Loockermans’ possession, probably due to
mortgages which the latter held on the property (Innes 1902:342).
In 1653 Loockermans (who had by this time come into sole
possesaion of the property by virtue of his 1649 marriage with
the widow of Dirck Cornelissen) sold ‘a house and lot by
Wolpherta valley nov called The Ferry’ to Egbert van Borsum. The
latter individual had, in 1652, been appointed the master ocf the
ferry to Long Island {(Innes 1902:342-343; Stokes 1915 I:2435, 1927
VI:177). In 1654, the Director General and Council ordered that
the ferryman should "maintain a ’‘covered Shed or Lodge’ on both
gidez cf the river to shelter pasaengera" (Stokes 1915 I1I:245).
Innea (1902:340, 343) states that a farmhouse, presumably the one
originally built by David Provoost, served as the ferry house on



the New Amsterdam side of the River and that Van Borsum
maintained a tavern in thias house.

The 1661 "Duke’s Plan" (see Figure 6a and 6b) showas the "passage
place® to Long Island. Examination of thia map suggesta that the
ferry may have been closer tao Peck Slip than Dover Street.
However, this early map is probably not of sufficient accuracy to
make this distincticon meaningful.

By 1670, the house and the ferry apparently had once more come
into the possesaion of Govert Loockermans (Innes 1902: 343).
According to Booth (1867:262-263) the ferry dock was leased in
1699 to Philip French, wha scgon shortly afterward obtained grants
to water lots in this area (see below). It ia not certain whether
the ferry dock at this time was at the same location as in the
mid-17th century. As discussed below, the descriptions given in
the water lot grants indicate that at the beginning of the 18th
century the ferry house was located near Peck Slip and west of
the study area.

The Easat River shoreline of lower Manhattan was shifted outward
during the 17th and 18th centuries through successive episodes of
landfilling. The first of these took place at the end of the 17th
and beginning of the 18th centuries. During thi=s period the City
of New York made grants of lots of land extending outward from

the shoreline to private individuals. The grantee was then usually
regspongible for building a wharf at the outward end of the
granted property and depositing land-£ill behind this wharf.

The water lot grants affecting block 106 were made in 1701}.
Copies of these "Grants to Land Under Water"™ were examined at the
Borough of Manhattan Topographic Bureau. Water lots between Peck
Slip and James Street were granted to six individuals (or pairs
of individuals. The description of these lote indicate that they
extended outward ®"from the Street or Highway which runs from
Queen Street towvard the fresh wvater and from thence to low water
mark into the aforesaid East River". The street referred to was
an easterly extension of Queen (Pearl) Street which ran along the
shoreline east of Wall Street. The fresh water refers to the
stream which ran through Wolpherts Vly. The street and the =stream
are shown on the 1661 Duke’s Plan (gee Figure 6). Each of the
lotg had a frontage on Bueen Street ocf 25 feet (except the
vesternmost lot which had a frontage of 25 1/2 feet. The length
of each lot south of Queen Street became greater as the lots
proceed eastward, which is in keeping with the divergence of
Pearl and Water Streets as seen on maps dating from the 18th
century to the present. Figure 7 illustrates the sequence of the
block 106 water lots recreated from the grantas. The lot numbers
are those referenced in the grants.



The westernmast of the block 106 water lotas was granted to
Johannes Hardenbreook on July 21, 1701 (Liber B:22). This lot
(#10, not to be confused with another lot with the same number
referenced below) extended 190 feet from the street to the low
water mark and was bounded on the east "by Lott #17 belonging to
Philip French...l{andl...on the west by a Publick Slip or Inlet®
(i.e. Peck Slip). East of the Hardenbrook lot #10 and French’s
lot #17 were two lots (#16 and #15) granted to Daniel Latham and
Thamas Richardaon on July 29, 1701 (Liber B:1&), four lotm (#14,
#13, #12 and #11}) granted to Clement Ellswvorth on July 21, 1701
({Liber B:4), an additional lot (#10) also granted to Daniel
Latham and Thomas Richardson on July 29, 1701 (Liber B:16), and
five lots (#9, #8, #7, #6 and #3) granted to Phillip French and
Major Brant Schuyler on August 9, 1701 {(Liber B:33).

The 1989 real estate atlaa (Figure 2) indicates that the western
boundary of lot 22 is located some 250.5 feet east of the Peck
Slip sidewalk. Assuming that this sidewalk alsoc represents the
vestern boundary of the Hardenbrook grant, the present lot 22
would include all of the land represented by the water lot #8
granted to French and Schuyler. It would also include a small
portion of the southeast corner of water lot #7, also granted to
French and Schuyler.

The French and Schuyler grant specifies the distance from Queen
Street to the low water mark along the western boundary of lot #9
ag 208 feet and along the eastern boundary of lot #3 as 215 feet.
Thue the distance from the Street to low water at the location of
the study area was approximately 210 feet. The terms of the
Schuyler and French grant {(which were also included in the other
grante referenced above) call for the grantees, at their own
expense to "build, erect or make or cause to be built, erected or
made on the South side of the said respective lotts or tofts of
ground a good sufficient and firme wharf or Street of 30 foot
English measure®". The wharf was to be used as a public street and
completed within three years after the date of the grant, with an
annual penalty of 10 pounds for each subsequent year that the
vharf remained incomplete. The present dizstance from the Pearl
Street to the Water Street sidewalk at the western boundary of
lot 22 i3 some 260 feet, suggesting that the original wharf may
in, fact be located within the boundaries of the present block,
vith the present location of Water Street bheing south of the
wharf.

The terma of the water lot grant to French and Schuyler alsc
state that the granted lots (vhich include tvo additional lots
eagt of block 106 in addition to lots #5-9 and #17 as noted
above) lie "between the land of Richard Sackett and the ferry
houze fronting to the East River or Harbor". This indicates that
in 1701 the ferry house was located west of French’s lot #17,
which would place it either on the Hardenbrook lot adjacent to
Peck Slip (the extreme weetern portion of the block 106
ghoreline) or to the weat of Peck Slip.

Philip French, who obtained the grants to these water lots which



constitute the present lot 22 is described in the grant as a
"merchant. " However, it is interesting to note that in the
foliowing year, 1702, French became mayor of New York City
(Wilson 1893 II:&8).

2. Subseguent Transfers of Water Lots
On September 14, 1701, shortly after obtaining the water lot
grants discussed above, Philip French and his wife Anna deeded
lote 8 and 9 to Daniel Latham (Manhattan Deeds Liber 25:134),
described in the deed azs a *"shipcarpenter®™. The deed also
transfers to Latham the responsibility for building and
maintaining the wharf at the southern boundary cf these two lots.
As noted above, Latham and Thomas Richardson previously received
the grants to lot #10, adjoining these lots to the west, as well
ag lots #15 and #16, located in the western portion of block 106.

Subsequent deeds, including two dated 1751 (Liber 35:521) and
1739 (Liber 35:123) provide information as to the subsequent
history of the Latham water lote. Daniel Latham died prior to
1716. In that yesr Thomas Richardson sold his half interest in
lots 10, 15 and 16 to Joseph Latham, Daniel Latham’s brother, and
Clement Ellsworth also sold his lots {(#11-14) to Latham. Joseph
Latham is described in the deeds as a "shipwright." In 1717,
Jogseph Latham sold lots 10 and 11 to Cornelius van Horne (Liber
28:327), who was a son-in-law of Philip French. In 1718 Latham
gold lota 13 and 14 to John Yerworth, a shipwright (Liber 30:69)
and Yerworth, 1in turn, sold these lotsg to William Walton in 1721
(Liber 30:220). Lots #8 and #9 became the property of Daniel
Latham’s two daughters, Sarah and Priscilla, upon his death.
Sarah and her husband sold lot #9 to John Latham in 1719.
Priscilla Latham married William Wiggins and they apparently
retained a legal interest in lot #9 as well as having title to
lot #8, These interests were inherited by their son, Daniel. The
1751 deed (Liber 335:521) confirwmed the division of the two lots,
Lot #9 being the property of John Latham and lot #8 of Daniel
Wiggins. In summary, lot #8, which constitutes mogt of the study
area, remained in the Latham family through the mid-18th century.

Water lot #7, which includes a small portion of the study aresa,
and the adjacent water lots #5 and #6 (as well as lots #20 and
#23, east of block 106) remained the property of the French
family through the mid-18th century. By 1723, both Philip French
and Brandt Schuyler were deceased. In that year, Schuyler’'s heirsas
granted to French’s son {also named Philip) and to Jogeph Read (a
gon-in-lav of the elder French), their half interest in these
lote (Liber 30: 398). In the same year, these properties were
divided among the younger French, Read, and Cornelius van Horne,
another son-in-law of the elder French (Liber 30:400), who had
earlier obtained title to lots #10 and #11, as noted above.
Jogeph Read received lot #7 as well as #20 and the western half
of #6. French received lots #17, #5 and the eastern half of #6,
and van Horne received lot #23.

A 1761 deed (Liber 208:312) records a subsequent transfer of what



was apparently lot #7 (although reference is not made to this lot
number in the deed). The deed transfers a 25 foot lot between
Queen and Water Streets from Matthew Clarkson, merchant, to Henry
Kip, sailmaker. The lot is bounded on the west by "the ground of
Daniel Wiggina" and on the east by lands sold by Clarkesocn to
Elias De Grushe. A2 noted above, Daniel Wiggins owned loct #8 at
this time.

3. The Burgis View

The Burgis view showe the East River shoreline as it appeared
ca. 1716-1718. The portion of the shoreline including the study
area is shown in Figure 8a. Stokes (1915:1) identifies the
structures and other features shown on this view. A portion of
his key map is included here as Figure 8b. According to Stokes
the coach and horses shown slong the shoreline atop the bluffs
{key map #103) are standing at the intersection of Pearl and
Cherry Streets. Since Dover Street intersected Pearl Street just
vest of the Cherry Street intersection (see Figure 11), this is
also the location of the study area. Stokes identifies the houses
wvhich he numbers #99 and #100 as belonging to Gilbert Livingston
and located at Beekman Street, with houses #101 and #102
belonging to John Deane and located at Roosevelt and Cherry
Street. The road which curves down to the shore east of the
bluffs is identified as the line of Cherry Street, with the road
meeting the shore near James Street. Stokes neotes, however,

that if these indentifications are correct, "the artist hae
evidently not alloved sufficient distance between Livingston'’s
corner at Beekman Street and John Dean’s houses at Roosevelt
Street® (1913 I:250).

The shoreline south of the bluffs clearly is being used for
shipbuilding at the time of the Burgis wview, with two ships shown
under construction. Since structures are shown along the
shoreline south of the bluffs, this lower area evidently does not
represent a natural beach, and therefore land-filling has
apparently cccurred prior to 1716. Stokes notes that "the large
ship on the ways, north of No. 101 lies just west of the old
ferry point of Egbert van Borsum®. If the wvan Borsum ferry was
located at Dover and Pearl Street, az Stokes notes elsewhere (see
above), it would place the ship and the adjacent building
(Stokes' #102) in or adjacent to the study area. This would be
consistent with the later Bradford/Lyne map (mee below). However,
it is inconsistent with Stokes’ identification of the structures
cited previocously.

Additional information about the study area can be obtained by
examining the Bradford-Lyne map of 1728 (Figure 9). This map
shows the intersection of Cherry and Queen Streets. Dover Street
wag not yet in existence, but its location is just west of this
intergection. Four structures are shown west of this location, on
the land which nowv constitutes block 106. The structure fronting
on Queen street was apparently associated with the Walton ship



yard. This would have been located on lots 13 and 14, which
Walton purchased from John Yervorth in 1721. The structure east
of the Walton shipyard, fronting on the wharf, is apparently
associated with Van Hornes Board Yard. In a deed dated March 13,
1759 (Liber 35:125), the sons and heirs of Cornelius van Horne
gold laots 10 and 11 (which van Horne had purchased from Joseph
Latham in 1717), to Augustus van Cortlandt. In the deed these
lots are described as being "known by hesl?]l board yard being the
above mentioned Two lotts number ten and number eleven®.

The building shown on the 1728 Bradford/Lyne map closest to the
present site of Dover Street is apparently associated with the
French ship yard. According to the map, this building is
approximately 50 feet east of Van Horne'’s board yard (water lotas
#10 and #11). Thus, the French ship yard was apparently located
on the vater lots east of numbhers 10 and 11 which include the
study area. Depending on the exact location of the Van Horne
board yard structure on lotg #10 and #11, the French ship yard
structure could have been located on lot #8, corresponding with
the present study area. As we have seen, at the time the
Brandford/Lyne map was drawn, lots #8 and #9 were owned by the
family of Joseph and Daniel Latham, ship builders, and the lots
to the east were owned by members of the French family. The
shipyard may have been known as the French shipyard because of
Philip French’s initial ownership of the land, and the French
family’s apparent continuing financial interest. However. it is
likely that it was operated by the Lstham family.

From the second decade through the end of the 18th century the
East River shoreline between Beekman and Catherine Street was a
center of ship building activity. "John Dolby, Jochn Rivers and
the brothers Joseph and Daniel Latham were, until William Walton
eclipsed them =211, New York’s notable shipwrightgs™ (WPA 1941:861).
According to Wilson (1893 II:451;IV:507,523), Walton was the
major Nev York shipbuilder during the 18th century. It would
appear from the Bradford/Lyne wmap that Walton began his
operations at the shipyard on block 106 and later expanded his
operationa., He may have taken over some of the other shipyards
later in the 18th century. However, the Latham family apparently
also continued in the shipbuilding business, as John Latham 1is
noted as a famous shipbuilder in the immediate post-Revolutionary
periad (Bank of the Manhattan Co. 1914:31). In 1752 Walton’s son
built an elaborate house fronting on @Queen Street at the present
location of #324-326 Pearl Street (Stokes I1I:953; Townsend 1945;
Wilson 1893:304-305), west of the study area. This locatian
corresponds with wvater lots #13 and #14, which the elder Walton
purchased from John Yerworth, as noted above.

5. The Duyckinck/Maerschalck Nap
The Duyckinck/Maerschalck map of 1755 (see Figure 10) shaows
structures in the same locations as those associated in 1728 with
the French ship yard and Van Horne board yard. The Walton house
ig presumably one of the structures shown fronting on Queen
Street. This map also shows a structure fronting on Queen Street



directly north of the "French shipyard®" structure. This structure
also may have been located within the present study area.

The 1755 map as well as the 1766 Ratzer map (see Figure 11)
indicate that by this time water lots had been granted and the
land filled-in south of the present location of Water Street.
Thus, in the later 18th century the focus of shipbuilding
activity moved south of Waeter Street.

According to Stokes (I11:998), Dover Street was laid out by 1766
aa it is showvn on the Ratzer map of this date.' According to
Moscow (1978) Dover Street was named after the English Channel
port of the same name.

E. Late 18th - Mid 19th Century (ca. 1780’s-1850's)
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By 1789 it appears that the former water lot #7 fronted on Dover
Street. Henry Kip must have subdivided this property and
congtructed buildings prior to this year. The tax assegsment
records for 1789 indicate that Kip owned lots and buildings on
either side of Dover Street; on the west gide he was asgessed for
propertiea at #6, #8, and #10 Dover Streets. Kip did not reside
on this property as, the City directories list his house at 235
King Street. The tax recorda indicate that tenants occupied
buildings at #8 and #10 Dover Street. It is uncertain whether
there was a buillding at #6. Although the house numbering system
for Queen and Water Streeta was different at this time than in
the 19th century, it is probable that the buildings at 98 Water
Street and 76 WQueen Street correspond to the later #278 Water and
340 GQueen Street. Thesge corner lots were alsc owned by Kip, and
tenants resided in builildings on both lots. Numbers 2, 4, and 12
Dover Streets do not appear in the 1789 tax records. However, by
1792 the tax records include listings for #2 and #4 Dover Street
with a house indicated on the latter lot. The tax records
indicate that a house wasa located at #12 Dover Street by 1799.

The lote at #96 Water Street and #74 Queen Street correspond with
the later #2786 Water and #338 Pearl Street. This land previously
constituted water lot #8. We have not located the deeda which
transferred this water lot from the ownership of Daniel Wiggins.
However, the tax records indicate that this property was owned by
Thomas Arden by the 1780’s. Arden was also an absentee landlord,
regiding at 23 Beekman Street. The tax records indicate that both
of these lots contained buildings with tenants by 1789. By 1800
Arden was deceased, and in that year his executors sold the
portion of the property fronting on Pearl Street (#338 Pearl
Street) to Frederick Davoue (Liber 58:412) and the portion
fronting on Water Street (#276 Water Street) to Anthony Trepan
(Liber 60: 420). These lota were described as extending 130 feet
back from Pearl and Water Streets, respectively. Therefore, the
Kip lots fronting on Dover Street would have only extended back
some 25 feet from the Stireet.
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Four of the 1789 tenants are listed in the city directories, John
Kelly, a shipwright, resided at #8 Dover Street; William Spread,
a shopkeeper, at #96 (#276) Water Street; William Kidson, a
cabinet maker at #74 Queen Street (#338 Pearl Street): and Donald
McKey, a hairdregser at #76 Queen Street (#340 Pearl Street - not
in the study area). Since these individuale did not have separate
busineas listingse in the directories, it can be assumed that they
both regided and conducted their business activities at these
locations, a common practice during this period.

2. Lot Histories
The construction history of each lot between the late 18th
century and ca. 1855 must be inferred from the tax agssessment
records and city directory listings. The former were examined for
the years 1789, 1792, 1799, 1802, 1808, 1820, 1825, 1830, 1840
and 1850. The directories were examined for the =same years (with
the exception of 1823). Due to limitations of time, we were only
able to locate some of the land conveyancea for this period.

The sequence of occupetion of the individual lots is presented in
Appendix A and will be summarized here. There would appear to
have been at least two building episodes on mast of the lots
during this period.

a. #2 Dover Street
A_house. vould -appear to -have-heen_present-on-this—lot-from_ the
lgte_LZSO£sﬁ&h§ggg£mLBQ?. The nature of the occupants during thie
period, including a widow, a mariner and a laborer, indicate that
the structure on this lot probably was purely residential during
this period and not the location of a commercial operation.
Number 2 Dover Street was apparently unoccupied from sometime
gsubsequent to 1808 through the early 1830°'s. A second sBtructure
wvag congtructed prior to 1840. In comman with the other houses
fronting on Dover Street after 1830 this gtructure served solely
as a regidence. The directories indicate that all of the
occupants had separate business addresgses during this period (see
Appendix A).

b) #4 Dover Street
A residential/commercial structure was apparently present at
number 4 Dover Street from 1792 through 1808. Sometime prior to
1820, this house was apparently torn down or destroyed by fire,
ag there waa a stable on the lot from 1820 through 1831, with a
gecond house being constructed prior to 1840. In 1840 Bartholome
Blanco resided at #8 Dover Street. By 1850 the houses at #4-#8
Dover Street were all owned by Blanco and his wife, Bertha. The
Blancos by this time had shifted their residence to #4 Dover
Street and apparently rented out the other buildings. By 1860
the Blancos also owned structures at #10 and #12 Dover Street in
addition to the other three structures. By this year, the Blancosa
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no longer resided on Dover Street, having moved to East 11th
Street. By 1870, the Blancos had added #278 Water Street to
their real estate holdings.

c. #6 Dover Street
Number 6 Dover Street was apparently owned by John Hertell in
1792. Hertell resided at #7 Dover Street and rented #6 to Martin
Lamb. Number 6 Dover Street was alsao the location of a stable
belonging to John Young, who resided on the east side of Dover
Street at #3. From 1802 through the early 1820's #6 Dover Street
wvag the site of a2 boarding house and tavern. By 1825 this
property as well as #4 and #8 Dover Street had apparently been
purchaged by Edmund Elmendorf as a real estate venture, since he
had both his home and business office elsewhere. Elmendorf either
demolished the residential structures (the buildingas could also
have been destroyed by fire), or converted them for use as
stables. Elmendorf may have sold #4 Dover Street, and this
property continued to be used as a stable through the 1830’s. The
1831 tax records indicate that Elmendorf was in the process of
erecting nev buildings on #6, #8 and #10 Dover Street at this
time. These latter buildings were used as residential structures.

d. #8 Dover Street
Number 8 Dover Street was the residence of two shipwrights in the
early 1790’s. By 1799 John Hertell, who formerly owned #6 Daover
Street and resided on the east side of Dover Street at #7, had
apparently moved #8 Dover Street. As noted above, this lot
contained a stable in the late 1820’s and a new structure was
then built by Elmendorf in 1831.

e. #10 Dover Street
Number 10 Dover Street contained a house in 1789 as noted above.
Howvever, the lot was apparently vacant from 1799 through 1831,
when Elmendorf constructed a new structure on it, as it is not
listed in the tax records for this period.

f. #12 Dover Street
The first structure at number 12 Dover Street was apparently
built between 1792 and 1799. From the latter date though the
early 1820’s it was the lcoccation of a bakery. The lot was
apparently vacant from this time through the early 1830°’s. By
1840 a nev residential building had been erected.

g. #338 Pearl Street
The building at #338 Pearl Street was the residence of a cabinet
maker and two hatters during the 1783-1800 period. These
individuals also apparently carried ocut their commercial
activities at this location. Frederick Devoue, a grocer, wvwho
purchagsed the property in 1800, i2 not listed in the directories
at this address. In the 1830’2 and 1840’s this building served as
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a boarding house. However, Samuel Cowvwdrey, an attorney who was
listed at this addresa in the 1825 tax records, also had his
cffice here in 1930. Covdrey also owned or leased the stable at
#2 Daver Street in 1831. It is uncertain 1f there was more than
one building episode during this period although a back building
had been constructed prior to 1835 (see belaow).

h. #278 Water Street

NHumber 278 Water Street, at the corner of Dover and Water
Streets, was the location of a grocery store through the 1830's,
although a shoemaker and tailor are listed at this addrese in
1820. The building apparently served as both a residence and
busgineas location through this period. The property was
apparently purchased by John Dunkin during the 1830’s since the
only John Dunkin listed in the directories had both home and
office at other locations. It is not known whether Dunkin erected
a new structure after he purchased this property.

i. #276 Water Street
Number #276 Water Street was the location of a grocery from the
last decade of the 18th century through 1820. Prior to 1830 there
may have been a second building episode on the lot, since from
this time, the tax asgessments and directories list two half-
houses on this property, listed as 276 and 276 1/2 Water Street.
In 1830 #276 Water Street is listed as the home and business
address of Edward Q’Donnell, another grocer, while #276 1/2 is=s
listed as the home and business address of a2 tailor. In 1840
O'Donnell was still at #276, while #276 1/2 was the business
address of Benjamin 5. Pier, a coppersmith, Pier’s residence was
elsevhere in Manhattan. In 1830, William Graves, also a
coppersmith i=s listed at number 276, with Pier at 276 1/2., Graves
regidence in 1850 was in Broocklyn. From 1838 though 1890, Piers
iz listed in the tax recorde at both 276 and 276 1/2 Water
Street. Howvever, an advertisement in an 1873 directory (see Figure
12) indicates that Piers and William Graves were apparently
partners in a coppersmithing business operated at 276 and 276 1/2
Water Street. Subsequent to 1840, modifications may have been
made to the two half-houses to join them. As noted below, a rear
extension was also apparently added to the building at some time
prior to 18355.

F. Mid-Late 19th Century (ca. 18350’s - 1880's)

Beginning in the 1850’s, the availability of detailed atlasses
and information included in the tax assessment records provide
data on bullding configurations. It should be noted haowever, that
inconaistencies in the records suggest that there were errors
made or changes in recording practices.

1. #2 Dover Street

Tax records from 1858 - 18390 describe the 3 1/2 story building at
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#2 Dover Street as having a frontage of 19 feet 10 inches on
Dover Street and extending 30 feet rearward. The description
given in the tax records i1s consistent with the configuration
shown on the 1835/1837 Perrias atlasases (Figures 13 and 14). The
atlasses shov an extension at the rear of the

structure and an open backyard area. The records suggest that the
structure was owvned and/or occupied by William Hall from 1840
until ca. 1880, It is likely that it is the same building
congetructed during the 1830°'s.

2. #4 Dover Street
The structure constructed at Number 4 Dover Street ca. 1830 may
also have stood through 1880. This brick structure was described
in 1858 as a three story building having a 19 foot Dover Street
frontage and a 38 foot depth, which corresponds with the
configuration shown on the Perris atlasses (Figures 13 and 14).
These maps show an open back yard area to the rear of thie
atructure. The 1870 and 1880 tax records show depths of 42 feet
and 26 feet, respectively. Building records dating to 1890 (see
below) indicate that the depth at that time was 40 feet,
suggesting that the 1880 records are probably in error. The other
variations probably represent errors in recording or the presence
of variocus building extensions or sheds.

3. #6-#10 Dover Street
Number #6, #8 and #10 Daver Street will be discussed together
because of the common history of the backyard area of these
gatructures. In 1858, #6 and #8 Dover Street had a frontage of 195
feet and #10 a 20 foot 2 inch frontage. Number 6 Dover street
extended 26 feet, and numbera 8 and 10 extended 28 feet five
inches wegt of Dover Street. It is likely that these three story
brick buildings, are the same ones built in 1831.

Prior to ca. 1860, the land immediately west of these structures
had a separate ownership from that of the house lots themselves.
The earliest available tax assessment map dates to 1856 (see
Figure 15). The lot numbered 568 on thia map includes a strip of
gome 8.5 feet extending north of Water Street immediately west of
#3574 Water Street and a larger rectangular area extending to the
rear of #3574 and #576 Water Street and #6-#10 Dover Street. The
1840 tax records utilize the same lot numbering system as shown
on the 1856 tax map. In 1840 this lot was owned by the estate of
Joel Post and the assessment notes "stable in the rear.®

By 1850 this odd-shaped rear lot was owned by Bartholome Blanco,
wvho also owned #4-#8 Dover Street at this time. The transfer of
title from George D. Post to Blanco occurred on August 1, 1846
(Manhattan Deeds Liber 480:321). The westernmost portion of this
property (not within the study area) contained a "drain or water
course® which ran southward from #336 Pearl Street to Water
Street.

On November 13, 1854 (Manhattan Deeds Liber 673:663) Bartholome
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Blanco so0ld to Benjamin S, Pier, whosge coppersmith business
adjoined the lot to the south. a swall irregularly shaped parcel
of land between tax lot #5358 and Pier’s property at #276 Water
Street. The Perris atlas shows a structure located on tax lot
#558 and the 1858 tax records indicate that this was a one story
building owned by Blanco. The use of this building is unclear,
but it i=s possible that Blanco rented this building to Pier for
uge in his coppersmithing business.

While the one story building on tax lot #3558 is still shown on
the 1867 Dripps map (see Figure 17), the 1862 tax map {(=2ee Figure
15) no longer shows lot 558 extending to the rear of #276 Water
Street. The lots had been reconfigured so that the land formerly
occupied by the one story building is once more available to be
incorporated into the properties fronting con Dover Street. The
tax records suggest that this in fact occurred by 1870, In that
year the buildings at #5, #8 and #10 Dover Street are indicated
ag extending 42 feet west of Dover Street. In 1890 the depths of
#56 and #8 are indicated as 36 feet with that of #10 remaining at
39 feet. The 1894 Sanborn map (see Figure 19) is consistent with
these figures. It indicates that the three story brick buildings
on these lots extended westward to a point north of the rear of
#276 Water Street. These data indicate that a third building
episode occurred on these three lots between ca. 1860 and 1870.
It should be noted that the 1880 tax records indicate that the
building depths for #6 and #8 (aa well as #4) Dover Street as
only 26 feet, which 1s inconsistent with the earlier and later
recorda. As noted above for #4 Dover Street, it is likely that
the 1880 tax records are in error.

4. #12 Dover Street
Number 12 Dover Street is described in all of the tax records
examined from 1858 to 1890 as having a Dover Street frontage of
20 feet 2 inches and a depth of 28 feet five inches. It was
apparently a 3 1/2 story brick building. This structure was
probably the same one which wae constructed in the 1830’a.

5. 338 Pearl Street
From 1838 through 18390, the tax records indicate two structures
at number 338 Pearl Street. The buildings are listed as having a
25 foot frontage and 53 foot depth. It is likely that the second
building is the back structure shown on the Perris atlasses of
1855 and 1857 (see Figures 13 and 14). It is not certain whether
the building fronting the street was the original building
constructed on the property. Both buildings were described as
having four stories in the 1858 and 1870 tax records. However in
1880 and 1890 one of the structures was described as a three
gtory building. It is likely that this iz due to changes in
recording practice, rather than reconstruction of the building.
The configuration shown on the Perris atlas indicates that there
vag an open area in the southwestern portion of the lot. The 1858
tax records for this property list Mre. Eliza Cowdry (apparently
the widow of Samuel Cowdrey, who may have previously owned the
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property) and the Protestant Episcopal Mizssion for Seaman on this
property. The 1870 records and subgsequent land transfers (gee
below) suggest that by this time the Mission had purchased both
buildings.

6. #278 MWater Street
The building at the corner of Dover and Water Streets (#278
Water) is indicated in the 1858 and gsub=zequent tax records as
having a Water Street frontage of 27 feet and a 33 foot depth. It
vas apparently owned by John Dunkin from ca. 1840 though the
1860’e when it was purchased by Bartholome Blanco, who by this
time also owned #4-#12 Dover Street. This building, which covered
the entire lot, was probably constructed during the ca 1840’'g-
1858 period.

7. #276 Mater Street
Number 276 Water Street was the location of the Pieres and Graves
copperemithing busineass through this period. This property is
listed as containing two 12 1/2 by 69 foot structures in the tax
recorde through this period. The configuration shown on the
1855757 Perris mapse as wvwell as the later 1894 Sanborn map,
however, suggest that there was one =single building fronting on
Water Street and that the rear of this building possibly
representz an exten=ion toc an earlier building. A2 noted above,
it is likely that the structural modifications occurred in the
mid-1840's - mid 1850’s period.

8. 1880 Census
The 1880 census provides further information about the
utilization of the buildings in the study area at that time. The
buildings fronting Dover Street were multifamily dwelling units.
Number 2 contained five families, #4 four families, #6 nine
families, #8 seven families, and #10 six familiea, while #12
contained two families and a number of single boarders. The
residents were predominantly first and second generation Irish
immigranta. A noted previously #338 Pearl Street wag owned by
the Protestant Episcopal Seaman’s Mission and is noted in the
.censusg records ag a Sailors Boarding House.

G. Late 19th - 20th Century (1850-1940’g)

Beginning in the 1880°s Richard K. Fox began to acquire property
in and near the study area. In 1882 he purchased #340 Pearl Street
at the corner of Pearl and Dover Sireet (not in the study area}
fraom Jacob F. Oakley (Manhattan Deeds Liber 1640:3). Fox
subsequently erected a seven story brick building on this
property. An 1884 Department of buildings alterations application
indicates that the building was used as a printing house
(presumably for the Police Gazette (see below). In 1893 Fox
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purchased 338 Pearl Street from the Proteatant Episcopal Church
Missiocnary Society (Liber 17:403) and the City of New Yeork
Department of Builildings alterations dockets (1893, #1183}
indicate that in the zame year he extended the building at #340
Pearl Street 20 that it nov included #338 Pearl Street. The 1894
Sanborn map (Figure 19) shows the seven story building on these
two lote. This map indicates an small open area, apparently a
shaftway, at the socutheast corner of the building. At this time
the building housed the offices of the Police Gazette. The 1923
Sanborn atlas (Figure 21) indicates this structure ags the "Fox
Building®. The Buildings Department recorda indicate that the
building extended 94 feet & inches scuth of Pearl Street at #340
Pearl Street and 92 feet, 3 1/2 inches at #338 Pearl Street. The
atlasses dating from 1902 through 1950 indicate that the building
retained the game configuration through thi= period. Department
of Buildings records indicate that the building was demolished in
18961. At that time the building was being used as a warehouse.

2. #2-#8 Dover Street
The tax records indicate that Richard K. Fox alsc purchasgsed #2
and #4 Dover Street during the 1880’'s. Thezse were apparently the
same ca. 1830's structures discussed above. In 1890, Fox modified
both buildings (Department of Buildings Alterations 1890;
#1273, #1491), raising them from three to four stories. These
buildings apparently served at that time as part of the Police
Gazette officesa. They both extended 40 feet west of Pearl Street
and had stone foundation walls and brick superstructures. Number
4 Dover Street was modified again in 1892 (Department of
Buildings Alterations 1892, #106) by the addition af a three
story extension 15 feet 8 1/2 inches wide and 13 feet 4 1/2
inches deep. The brick foundation walls for the extension were
four feet deep. The 1894 Sanborn map (Figure 19) shaows this three
story extension and it also shows a two story brick extension at
the rear of #2 Dover Street.

Richard K. Fox also purchased #6 and #8 Dover Street in 1854
(Liber 25:468) and 1890 (Liber 2281:455) respectively. The 18S4
Sanborn map shows that at this time these two structures
maintained the mid-19th century configuration discussed above,
with open yard areas to the rear of the structures.

The New York City Buildings Department Record of New Buildings
(1899, #228) indicates that in 1899 Richard K Fox erected a new
building on the former site of #2-#8 Dover Street. The six story
building had a brick foundation and superstructure. It measured
77 feet 3 inches fronting on Dover Street and 70 feet 9 inches in
the rear. The structure is described as extending fifty two feet
three inches west of Dover Street. The building records indicate
that the structure was erected as a 40 family tenement with two
gtores on the ground floor. Construction was completed on March
31, 1900. As shown on the 1520 Bromley (Figure 20) and 1923
Sanborn (Figure 21) atlasses, the building had a "backyard®™ area
or alleyway to the rear and sides and a central courtyard in the
rear. The maps indicate that the rear alleyway was approximately
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10 feet in width. The structure is indicated as the "Fox Flats"
on the former map. Building= Department records indicate that the
building was demolished in 1961. At that time it was recorded as
containing 24 apartments.

3. #10 Dover Street
As of 1894 (see Figure 19) #10 Dover Street was a three story
brick building which extended 39 feet wesat of Dover Street. As
noted previously this building was probably constructed between
1857 and 1870. A yard area extended some 11 feet west of the
northern portion of the building. There was a three story brick
extension in the southern portion. While the Sanborn maps
(Figures 19 and 21) and the earlier tax records indicate that
that thie astructure had three stories, the Bromley maps (Figure
20) show a four story building. Plans for an alteration of the
building filed with the Department of Buildings in 1923 also show
a four story structure. The plans called for the building to be
extended to cover the former yard area. The maps do not indicate
that these alterationa were carried out. The 1923 Sanborn map
showsa that at that time the building was the location of a waste
paper warehouse or processing business. Although the 1950 Ullitz
map (Figure 22) continues to show this structure, the Buildings
Department records indicate that it was demolisghed in 1943. Prior
to demolition the structure was vacant and had been boarded up.

4. #12 Dover Street
Subsequent mapa indicate that the same ca. 1830’s structure shown
on the 1894 Sanborn map (Figure 19) continued to stand at #12
Dover Street through the 19530’s. The 1923 atlas (Figure 21)
indicates that this building also housed a waste paper business
at this time. There are some discrepancies as to the height of
the building as shown on the various maps. The Sanborn maps
indicate the structure as having three stories while the Bromley
maps indicate it as a four story building and the Ullitz map
shovs it as having 3 1/2 stories. Department of Buildings records
indicate that this building, as well as the one at #2278 Water
Street, was demolished in 1961. It was described at that time as
a four story tenement with four apartments.

S. #278 Water Street
The mid-19th century building at #278 Water Street also continued
to stand throughout the period. It was described at the time of
demolition as a tenement with four apartments. The building had
a 27 foot frontage on Water Street and extended 53 feet along
Dover Street.

6. #2766 ¥Water Street

The 1894 Sanborn atlas indicates that the building at #276 Water
Street (the location of the Piers/Graveg coppersmith shop) had a
main portion with a rear extension. Again there are discrepancies
in the building height as shown on the atlasses, with the front
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portion shown as 2-3 storles and the rear portion as 1-2 atories
in height. Buildings department records indicate that the
structure wvas demolighed in 1962. It was described at that time
ag a 2 1/2 story warehouse with a 25 foot frontage and extending
30 feet north of Water Street. This may indicate that the rear
extension had previously been demolished. A wall is wvisible on
the site in the approximate location of the rear wall of the
extension to this building, =some 69 feet north of Water Street
(see Plate 4). Another wall, vieible on the surface immediately
to the north, may represent the rear extension to #10 Dover
Street as shown on Figurees 18-22.
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III. POSSIBLE ARCHAEOLOGICAL RESOURCES

The history of the study area as outlined above indicates that
several types of archaeological resources may be located within
the study area. An important factor in assessing the presence of
some of these resourcea is the original topography of the East
River shoreline in and near the gtudy area. The ca. 1716 Burgis
viev and Stokes commentary on it indicate a bluffed shareline at
this location, with the land sloping dovwnward to the eagt and
weat of thie area. Considerationas of the 20th century atreet
grade in this area suggest that the Burgis view i= probably
accurate in this regard. The grades shown on the 1923 Sanborn map
(see Figure 21) are conaistent with those shown on other 20th
century maps examined and with observationa of the area. The- _
grade at Dever—and—Peari—Street-ig ‘approXimately 23 feet while it
is-only—12 feet..at the—corner of Peck Slip and Pearl Street. The
grades at Water Street and Dover Street and Water Street and Peck
Siip are cnly 8 and 5 feet respectively. This would be consistent
with the presence of bluffs along the present course of Fearl
Street with subsequent land filling raising the grade near Water
Street above the high water mark but not tao the level of the
bluff-top area.

The distance to which the bluff-top area extended southward of
the present location of Pearl Street cannot be accurately
determined. Stokes’ reconstruction indicates the high water mark
approximately 85 feet scuth of FPearl Street, which would place
the bluff-base area near the rear of the lot at #338 Pearl
Street. The original shoreline is shown on the 1881 Robinson map
(Figure 18) aa passing through the northern portion of the lot at
#4 Dover Street, somewvhat south of this point. These shoreline
reconstructions are of doubtful accuracy, however.

A. 17th Century Ferry
The location of the first ferry to Long Island, established ca.
1640 was, according to Stokes (1915-1527) and Innes (1302) at
Dover and Pearl Street. However, if the Burgis view
reconstruction of the shoreline is accurate, the location of a
ferry at this site would necesasitate paasengers ascending and
descending the bluffs to the ferry dock. The lower portions of
the shoreline east and weat of the study ared would appear to
have been more =suitable for the ferry location. If the location
of the ferry dock was actually at the location of Dover and Pearl
Street as it was located at the time the that Stokea and Innes
vere writing, the gsite would have been located some 25 - 50 feet
eagt of the study area. However, it is unlikely that these
authors’ reconstructions are sufficiently accurate to precisely
locate the ferry.

Any archaeological traces of the ferry would be located beneath

the later fill deposits (see below). Possible remains would be
vooden posts asgociated with the ferry dock (and preserved in the
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subgequent anaerchbhic, water-logged environment}), post molde (from
decayed posts), and/or refuse possibly discarded by ferry
passengers.

The location of the ferry house, which posgsibly also served as ' {
the early 17th century residence of David Provoost, is uncertain. ¢

By the end of the 17th century the ferry house was located west
of the study area, but the earlier location may have been \YEU'
different. In any event, the ferry house would mosat likely have

been located at the taop of the bluffs, closer ta Pearl

Street, than the actual ferry dock at the basze of the bluffs,

B. Early 18th Century Landfill and Wharf

The documentary history indicates that landfill was deposited
between the high and lov water marks between 1701, when the water
lot granta were made, and ca. 1716; the period depicted in the
Burgis view. Landfill deposits have been excavated at several
locations in lower Manhattan. Many of these deposits have proved
to contain gquantities of artifacts and faunal remains which have
provided information on life in New York City at various periods
during the 17th-18th centuries. In some casea it has been
possible to make inferences as to the possible sources of
landfill wmaterial.

Although the grants to lands under water specify the northern
limit of the grants as Queen (Pearl) Street, the actual deposits
would have been located south of the bluff base. The term=s of the
Water Lot grants indicate that the southern boundary of the water
lots was located approximately 210 feet south of Pearl Street at
the study area location. The terms of the grant called for the
congtruction of a 30 foot wharf on the south side of the water
lots, which then would constitute the location of a public
street. The 1728 Bradford/Lyne map indicates that the filled-in
area extended approximately 200 feet socuth of Pearl Street, which
ig consistent with the terms of the grants. This map indicates
that Water Street was not yet in existence at this location
although it is shown further to the west. However, a fill-
retaining structure must have heen constructed at the
southernmost extent of the filled-in area. Assuming that the
south gide of Pearl Street is at the same location as in the
early 18th century, the fill-retaining s2tructure would be present
within the study area in the northern portion of the lots at #276
and #278 Water Street (210 feet south of the Pearl Street
sidewalk). Widening of Pearl Street and the likely addition of a
sidewalk since the early 18th century suggests that the northern
edge of this structure may actually be located somewhat north of
this point. The fill between the location of the early 18th
century wharf and the present location of Water Street would have
been depogited later in the 18th century.

If, as is likely, the landfill was depogited to create a dry and
level area at the base of the bluffs, and the pre-landfilling
ground surface sloped downward from the bluff bame to the low
water mark, the depth of fill would have increased from north to
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gouth. The 20th century street grade at the corner of Dover and
Water Street is some 8 feet, and the grade at Peck Slip and Water
Street is some five feet above high water. Allowing for =some
accretion in the surface between the early 17th and the 20th
centuries, the depth of fill in the southern portion of the study
area should be represented by the difference between the low and
high water mark plus an additional amount of fill amounting to less
than 8 feet.

It should be noted that the types of fill retaining structures
uncovered in previous lower Manhattan excavations vary with the
distance from the original shoreline. In the near-shore
environment, such as8 that encountered at the 7 Hanover Square
block, landfill was deposited behind stone walls, which were also
used as structural foundations. Landfilling further out into the
original river was deposited behind massive cobble-filled log
cribbing structures like those exposed at the Assay Office site.

At the 175 Water Street site, a ship was used ag a fill-retaining
structure. However, it is unlikely that this type of fill-
retaining structure would have been used at the low water mark
wvhich repregents the outer margin of the original water lot
grants on block 106. More likely structures would be stone walls
or cobble-filled log wharves.

1. Depih of Fill Deposits

Records cf a series of borings (#173-#178) taken in 1950 along
the former course of Dover Street between Pearl and Front Streets
wvere obtained from the Borough of Manhattan Bureau of Topography,
Subsurface Explorstion Section. These records provide information
ag to the depthe of fill present and the nature of the pre-
landfilling surface (z2ee Appendix B). The borings show the
pregence of gsome 12 feet of fill near the corner of Water Street,
with greater amounts of fill, between ca. 18 and 26 feet, both
north and south of this point. The greater amounts of fill to the
north would have been required to allow the grade of Dover Street
to meet that of Pearl Street in the coriginal bluff-top area. Much
of thie £fill was probably deposited at or subsequent to the time
that Dover Street was opened in the second half of the 18th
century, rather than at the time of the initial landfilling in
the early 18th century. As discussed below, the depths of fill
deposited on block 106 are probably less than those indicated in
the Dover Street borings. The greater amounts of £fill to south of
Water Street were necessary due to the increasing river-bottom
depth.

The changing nature of the sub-landfill gurface ig indicated in
the boring logs. Brown or gray =sand is indicated beneath the £fill
in borings #173-#177, indicating a tidal or near-shore
environment. River bottom silts, indicating the presence of
deeper waters further from shore do not appear in the borings
until #178, taken at Front Street.

Two additional logs represent earlier borings at the corners of
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Dover and Pearl, and Dover and Water Streets. The results of
thege borings are not entirely consistent with the regultg of the
1930 borings. Boring #37, at the corner of Dover and Water Street
indicates the presence of 10 feet of fill, roughly consistent
with the results of boring #1735. However, the indicated surface
elevation of +13 feet is not consistent with the elevation of ca.
+10 feet at the location of boring #175 further to the north or
with the street grade of ca. 8 feet indicated on variocus maps.
Boring #38 at the corner of Pearl and Dover Streete also
indicates the presence of 10 feet of fill, and a surface
elevation of +19 feet. The reascn for the presence of this amount
of fi111 at the former bluff-top location is uncertain. It could
be due to accretion caused by repaving of the street over a
period of 200 yeara. Thia would indicate that the height of the
original bluffs waa cleser to ca. +10 feet than +20 feet.
However, it is posaible that the indication of =some 10 feet of
fill at this location 12 due to the location of the boring at the
former site of some previcus disturbance (such ag a former
bagement which extended eastward to the location of the boring)
or that the designation of the material as fill was errcneous.

C. Early-Mid 18th Century Shipyard
The documentary research indicates that a shipyard, known as the
French shipyard, but probably coperated by the Latham family, was
located within the study area prior to 1728. The Bradford/Lyne
map of that year indicates that a structure, presumably
aggociated with the shipyard, may have been located in the study
area or immediately to the east. The map indicates that the
structure would have been situated approximately 1/2 of the
digtance from Queen Street to the southern margin of the filled-
in area. This would place it in the area of #2-#4 Dover Street.
Surficial refuse assgociated with the operation of the shipyard
vould have accumulated at the surface of the land-fill deposits.
Building foundations and "features" such as cisterns, wells and
priviea assoclated with the shipyard would have been excavated
beneath the surface of the landfill.

D. Domegtic/Commercial Deposits: Late 18th - Mid 19th Century
In the late 18th century the land included within the study area
was gsubdivided and used for domestic and/or commercial purposes
with the first structures built prior tc 1789. Archaeolcgical
deposits associated with these structures would most likely be
found within "features" such as cisterns, privies and wells,
which were most frequently located in backyard areas. Deposits
within such features could date to the period of use of the
feature, or as is more frequently the case, represent refuse
deposited after the feature was no longer in use. It i= also
possible that archaeological depcsits could be present in the
form of surface refuse deposgsits in backyard areas. Deposits in
bagsements, while found lesg frequently, are also possible
egpeclally when earlier structures were destroyed by fire, with
later structures built on the rubble of the first structure. In
such instances deposits would be present beneath the basement
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flocors of the later structures.

In addition to domestic refuse, deposita on some of the lots
could be associated with late 18th and early 19th century
commercial activities. These include a boarding house and tavern
at #6 Dover Street, a bakery at #12 Dover street and a grocery
store and coppersmith’s shop at #276 Water Street. Data indicate
that there were at least two separate building episodes on each
lot between the late 18th and mid 19th centuries. The data
suggest that the second major construction episode occurred
between 1830 and 1840 on the lots fronting on Dover Street, with
stables pregsent on at leasgt three of theme lots between the
episodes of domestic construction. The second construction
episode on the other lots may have occurred somewhat later. If
new cisterns and privies were constructed, those associated with
the first building episode may have been filled-in at this time.
Features associated with the second construction episode would
not have heen filled-in until sometime after the completion of
the Croton Aqueduct in 1842, After water and sewage lines& became
available, it became the responsibility of the individual
property owner to provide the connection between the building and
the public facilitiea. After this connection was made the
backyard features were often filled-in, sometimes with refuse.

The size of the late 18th - mid 19th c¢entury structures and the
locations of the associated backyard areas and the cisterns,
wells and/or privies= is8 not known with certainty and must be
inferred from the available data. As discussed in the previous
chapters the former water lot #8 was subdivided into two lots
fronting Pearl (#338) and Water (#276) Streets. The backyard of
the first structure on #276 Water Street and part of the backyard
area of #338 Pearl Street are included within the present lot
#22. "Features" could have been located anywhere within these
yard areas. Since these structures had large backyard areas, it
is most likely that cisterns would have been located close to the
structure, with the privies located closer to the rear boundary
line of the lot.

The firet lots to front on Dover Street would have extended back
only some 25 feet from the Street to eastern boundary of #276
Water Street and #338 Pearl Street. It iz possible that the
backyard features associated with the Dover Street structures
could have been located we=st of the actual lot boundary. However,
gince the lots fronting Water and Pearl Streets had a different
owner than those fronting Dover Street, it 18 more likely that
the first structures extended only ca. 20 feet from the Street
and that the "featurea" were located immediately at the rear of
the structures and adjacent to the rear boundary of the lot. In
this event only a portion of the backyard areas of the first
structures built on #8, #10 and #12 Dover Street would be located
within the boundaries of the present lot #22 (see Figure 23).
Since the features would have been cloge to the lot line,
however, this portion would probably have included at least a
portion of the backyard "features”". None of the backyard area of
the late 18th century astructures on #2 or #4 Dover Street would
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have extended into the study area.

The available data indicate that the second, ca. 1830°’s,
structures built on the lots fronting on Dover Street are the
same ones shown on the 1855/57 Perris maps. These maps and tax
records dating to the same year indicate that the structures at
#2 and #4 Dover Street extended onto the land previously included
vithin the #338 Pearl Street lat. The backyards of these
structures and the associated ca. 1830’s features would,
therefore, have been located within the boundaries of the present
lot 22 (see Figure 23).

The lot configurations and backyard areas for the ca. 1830's
construction episode at #6-#12 Dover Street would probably have
been similar to those of the late 18th century. The deeds, tax
records, and 1855/57 mape indicate that through the 1840's #276
Water Street and the land north of it continued to have separate
ownership than the lots freonting Dover Street. The location of
backyard features for buildings at #6-#12 Dover Street during
this period may have been similar to that of the earlier
structures. The 1855/57 Perris maps (Figures 13 and 14) show
small open areas at the rear of #8-#12 Dover Street as well as
#278 Water Street. These may have been the locations of the
privies, and possibly also cisterns and or wells of the ca.
1830's buildings. There is no such open area at the rear of #6
Dover Street. However the open area at northeast corner of #8
Dover Street appears to be larger than those at #8-10 Dover
Street, snd privies for both the #6 and #8 Dover Street
structures may have been located in this area. It should be noted
that both of these structures were apparently constructed by the
game person (Edmund Elmendorf) in 1831. A portion of the cpen
areas at #10 and #12 Dover Street and at #278 Water Street would
fall within the boundaries of the present lot 22. The open area
at the rear of #8 Dover Street would appear to be east of the
study area boundary.

Since it was the responsibility of each property owner to connect
to City water and sewage linee, it is uncertain when cisterns and
privies were no longer required on the Dover Street properties.
As discusazsed in the previous chapter, a third building phase
apparently occurred on #5-#8 Dover Street subsequent to 1837 and
open backyard areas were agaociated with these structures. It is
posaible that "features® were located in these backyard areas.

E. Disturbance and Preservation of Deposits

During the mid 1840’s - mid 1850’'s period the buildings at #2786
and #278 Water Street were probably extended northward, covering
a portion of the previous backyard areas of these lots. The
buildings constructed at #6-#10 Dover Street after 1857 would
have covered the previous backyard areas although, as noted above
new backyard areas were associated with these gtructures. In the
1880’3 extensions were built at the rear of #2-#4 Dover Street,
affecting the former backyard areas of the ca. 1830’'s buildings.
An extension was also built in the southern portion of the

25



backyard area of #10 Dover Street.

A final construction phase occurred at the end of the 19th
century affecting #338 Pearl Street and #2-#8 Dover Street. A
seven story bullding was constructed on the former lot covering
all of the mid-19th century backyard area except for a narrow
strip in the southwesat portion of the property. The Fox Flats,
constructed at #2-#8 Dover Street covered most of the former
backyard area except for an approximately 10 foot wide strip at
the western portion of thesgse lots and additional strips extending
eastvard at the northern, southern, and central portions of the
building.

The extent to which later construction would have affected
earlier deposite is usually asgessed by determining the depth of
the basements of the most recent construction phase, asgumed to
be the deepest of the basements. Where these basements are
relatively shallow, it is assumed that the lower portions of
earlier backyard features can be preserved beneath the later
basement floors. The Buildings Department records cited
previously provided data on foundation and building depths for
most of the lots. The extension built at the rear of #4 Dover
Street in 1892 (Alterations Docket #106) had foundation walls 4
feet deep; no basement i=s indicated. This extension was located
at the site of the later Fox Flats. The nevw buildings record for
the latter building (1899, #228) indicates that the foundation
walls for this building were 10 feet deep. This presumably also
indicates the approximate basement depth. The 1923 alteration
plans for #10 Dover Street indicate that this structure had a
nine foot deep basement. Finally, the plans for the extension of
the Fox Police Gazette Building at #338 Pearl Street (1893,
#1183) indicates that the foundation walls for this building were
20 feet deep.

The records do not indicate the foundation or basement depths for
#12 Dover Street, #276 Water Street or #278 Water Street. The
late 19th - 20th century maps (Figures 19-22) indicate that all
of these structures had basements, however.

On most sites, basement deptha of 9-10 feet would suggest that
any features present in former backyard areas would have been
eilther removed entirely or substantially truncated. However,
examination of the study area and considerations of site
topography and history suggest the liklihood that, with the
posgible exception of #338 Pearl Street, backyard features in
addition to any features associated with the 18th century
shipyard may remain largely intact beneath the basements of the
later buildings and building extensions.

The 1894 Sanborn map (Figure 19) showe an open back yard area at
the rear of #274 Water Street and west of #6 Dover Street. The
building at #274 Water Street is still standing. The back
building north of thi=s open area and at the rear of #336 Pearl
Street (see Figure 19) has been demolished and a parking lot is
now present on this property but examination of the site
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indicates that the open backyard area between the two building
gsites is still present (gee Plate S). Examination of the site
also indicates that the surface of the this backyard area i=s
actually some 12 feet below the surface lewvel of the vacant lot
at #6 Dover Street, which is approximately at street grade. The
basement level of #274 Water Street is vi=ible on the southern
s8ide of this open backyard area with the first floor at the level
of Water Street (see Plate 6). The rear basement wall of the
former back building at #336 Pearl Street is also visible at the
northern side of the open area (see Plate 7). This suggests that
the basements of these buildings, rather than being excavated
below A surface at street level were built upwards from a surface
wvhich was below street level.

Dover Street slopesa downwvard from an elevation of some 23 feet at
Pearl Street to some 8 feet at Water Street. Elevationzs at the
Dover Street bhoring locations discussed above indicate that the
street grade east of the open backyard area of #274 Water Street
iz ca. +16 feet, indicating that the elevation at the base of the
open area is gsome +4 feet. This may be close to the level to
which the land at the base of the bluffs was filled in the 17th
century. After Dover Street was opened in the mid-18th century,
the ztreet location may have been built-up with additional f£ill,
but the entire block was probably not filled level with the
street. The first floor of structures would have been at the
street level, with basements being built up from the level of the
fill to this street level. It is possible that the foundations
for these buildings were built in trenches excavated into the
fill, esince there would have been no need for additional basement
depth. The back yards of these and subsequent buildings may have
been at or near the original level of the landfill, although some
accretion of the back yard surfaces may have occurred over the
200 year period of occupation of the area. If this method of
construction was used, the conatruction of later buildings, even
those with deep basements, would probably not have resulted in
the destruction earlier backyard featurea. If accretion of
gurfaceg occurred between construction episodes, surficial
deposits also may remain intact.

It should be noted that there is a concrete walkway and metal
gate at street level immediately east of the open backyard area
north of #224 Water Street discussed above (gee Plate 7). A hole
in this surface opened by erosion reveals brick rubble beneath
the concrete. Examination of the eastern aside of the cpen area
revealed, alao, the remainzs of a stone foundation and brick
superstructure wall. This probably represents the rear basement
wall of the "Fox Flats", built at #2-#8 Daover Street in 1899. The
concrete walkway probably represents the "courtyard® shown at the
rear of the Fox Flats on the variocus 20th century maps which was
apparently the first floor (street) level. The basement of the
building probably extended beneath the "courtyard®". We have
agsumed, however, that the backyard areas of the earlier, smaller
structures would have been below the street level, at
approximately the level of the remaining open area at the rear of
#254 Water Street.
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Thus, despite the 9-10 foot basement depths indicated by the
records for the latest buildings constructed along Dover Street,
it is likely that backyard areas of the earlier structures, and
possibly the basement floors of these buildings, remain intact
beneath the basement floors of the moat recent building=. This
would also be the case for the buildings fronting Water Street
(#276 and #278). Hovever, it is uncertain whether any remains of
earlier backyard areas would be preserved at #338 Pearl Street.
Reconstruction of the original topography suggests that the
bluff-top area extended south of the present location of Pearl
Street. Excavation of a 20 foot deep basement for the maost
recent building at #338 Pearl Street would have destroyed any
archaeological deposits on or excavated beneath the bluff-top
surface.

It should be noted however, that the 20 foot basement depth of
the most recent building at #338 Pearl Street is approximately
the =ame ag the elevatlion of the Pearl/Dover Street
intersection. This raises the possibiliity that the front part of
this building was constructed in the bluff-top area and involved
excavation for the 20 foot basement. However, the rear of the
building, which extended some 92 feet south of Pearl Street, may
have reached the original bluff-base area. It is uncertain
vhether the backyards of earlier structures on this lot would
have been at the level of Pearl Street or at the lower landfill
level. In the former case any backyard archaeological deposits
would have been destroyed by construction of the "Police Gazette"
building. In the latter case, such deposits may remain beneath
the rear portion of the basement floor of this building, as
discussed above.
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IV. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

As a result of this documentary study and archaeoclogical
aggegament it is our opinion that block 106, lot 22 1ie, in
general, highly =sensitive for the presence of archaeological
remaing dating from the early 18th century through the 15Sth
century, Such remains could be aasociated with:

1. Landfill depogited and landfill retaining structures
congtructed between 1701 and ca. 1716. Landfill deposited later
in the 18th century may be present in the extreme scuthern
portion of the study area

2. A shipyard present prior to 1728 through the mid-18th century.

3. Domestic, commercial and mixed domestic/commercial occupations
of nine geparate building lots beginning prior to 1789 and
extending through the mid-19th century.

Remains assgociated with the shipyard and the domestic/commercial
occupationa could be represented by structural features, surface
refuse and/or refuse deposited in wells, cisterns, privies and
other sub-gurface "featurea".

It ig also posgible that remains associated with the first ferry
which ran from Manhsttan to Long Island could be present in the
study area, although the precise location of this ferry cannot be
accurately determined. Such remaing could be in the form of posts
and/or post molds associated with the ferry dock and/or refuse
deposited by ferry passengers. Any such remains would be presgent
beneath the later landfill deposits.

Examination of the project area and consideration of the original
topography suggest that the basements of buildings constructed in
most of the study area were built upwards from a surface which
may have been near the elevation of the 17th century landfill. It
is very likely that this type of construction would have resulted
in features and possibly other deposits from earlier construction
episodes remaining largely intact.

Any prehistoric remaina in the project area would most likely
have been present in the northern portion of the =study area
(later occupied by #338 Pearl Stireet) which contained the 17th
century bluff-top area. Any such deposits would have been
destroyed by later construction. Therefore the project area is
not considered sensitive for intact prehistoric archaeclogical
sites.

In terma of assesgsing the relative sensitivity of various
portions of the study area, several factors need to be
congidered. The early 17th century landfill depcsits would be
present from the bluff base area southward, with depths of
landfill increasing to the south. Although the lacation of the
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bluff-base area cannot be precisely determined we have assumed
that it wae in the vicinity of the southern part of #338 Pearl
Street. The initial landfilling episode would appear to have
extended to the vicinity of #276 and #278 Water Street, with the
first landfill retaining structure constructed south of this
point. Therefore, the best location for sampling the landfill
deposits and determining the presence of fill retaining
structures would appear to be at the rear of #276 Water Street
and west of #10-#12 Dover Streets. Landfill landfill deposited
south of the retaining structure later the 18th century could be
sampled in the southern portion of #276 and #278 Water Street

Any remeins associated with the shipyard would probably have
extended from the base of the bluffs to the first fill retaining
gstructure (#2-#12 Dover Street). The structure shown on early-mid
18th century mapa in or near vicinity of the shipyard may have
been in the vicinity of #2-#4 Dover Street.

The mogst likely locations for deposita associated with the late
18th-19th century domestic aoccupations are the backyard areas of
the buildings which fronted Dover, Pearl and Water Streets. The
portions of the present lot 22 where deposita from various periods
would most likely be located are summarized in Figure 23.

The last building to stand at #338 Water Street, extending some
S0 feet south of Pearl Street, had a 20 foot deep basement. The
area covered by this building would have included the original
bluff-top, which would have been destroyed by this construction
episode., If this building extended to the bluff base, any
landfill depaosits in this area are likely to have been shallow.
The consatruction of this building would be more likely to have
removed such deposits and later features, than the buildings
constructed in the other portions of the project area. This area
is, therefore, coneidered less archaeclogically sensitive than
the remainder of the study area.

It i8 recommended that a program of sub-surface testing be
undertaken on block 106, lot 22 to determine the actual pre=ence
or absence of the possible archaeological deposits discussed
above. The strategy for such a testing program is discussed in
the following section.
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V. TESTING STRATEGY

Archaeological testing to determine the actual presence of
archaeological remains on block 106, lot 22 is complicated by the
presence of an estimated 10-12 feet of rubble within the
bagementa of the last structure= to stand on the property. In
addition, since each lot has had a different history since the
late 18th century the presaence of significant deposits in the
study area could not be ruled out without examining each lot.

A two step program of testing is recommended. The first step
would consisat of a program of archaeclogical boringe using a
large diameter split-spoon gampler. Such borings could involve
continuous gampling from the surface or the driving of a casing
to a depth approximating the basement depth of the latest
structures to stand on the property with continucus sampling from
this depth to the a depth beneath the base of the landfill
depcgits. An archaeologist should be present during the conduct
of the borings to record the atratigraphic column indicated by
each sample and to screen the soil recovered to detect the
pregence of artifacts.

The borings would provide additional information to be used in
the selection of areas for further testing.It is anticipated that
the borings waould enable the determination of the presence or
abgence of artifact deposits within the landfill, as well a=s
gurficlial deposits which may have accumulated after the
landfilling. It should be noted, however, that this method is of
limited usge for the detection of archaeological deposits within
features, since such features are of limited extent compared with
the total study area. Another expected problem with
archaeological borings is the penetration of the brick and other
rubble contained within the foundations. The cost estimate for
the archaeological boringa assumes that each boring would reach
an average depth of 20 feet and that one boring would be placed
in the backyard areas of the each of the nine lote which fall
within the boundaries of the present lot 22.

The second step in the testing program would involve the removal,
uaing heavy power equipment, of the rubble from the foundations
of the last sgstructures to stand on tvo of the lots. Thisg would
enable the detection and testing of backyard features as well as
the testing of deposits detected as a result of the borings. The
lots would be gelected bhaged on the results of the present
agsessment as well as the archaeological boring program. After
removal of the basement rubble the basement floors of the last
buildings constructed would be removed under archaeoclogical
gupervision. Underlying deposits would be tested manually, and/or
backheoe trenches dug to determine the presence of any surficial
depogite. Subsequently, additiconal clearing may be necessary
using power equipment (backhoe) to detect the presence of
features which would then be manually sampled.
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A major cost involved in this type of testing is associated with
the removal of the basement rubble. Clearing of the portion of
each lot which contains former backyards and which falls within
the project area would involve the excavation of approximately
6250 cubic feet of rubble.

Many of the archaeolaogical gsites in New York City have been
severely disturbed by looters during excavation. Therefore the
gite gshould be fenced and night and weekend guards provided
during the excavation program.
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BLOCK 106, LOT 22
ARCHAEOLOGICAL TESTING PROGRAM - PART I
IMPLEMENTATION BUDGET

Archaeological Personnel:

Field Teating 2500
Laboratory Processaing, 1400
Analysis and Report

———— - -

£3900
Rental of Boring Rig 4500
and Operators
Misce;laneous Expenses 100
Total sa500

BLOCK 106, LOT 22
ARCHAEOLOGICAL TESTING PROGRAM - PART 11
IMPLEMENTATION BUDGET

Archaeological Personnel:

Field Testing 2 9500
Laboratory Processing, £14000
Analysis and Report

$23500
Rental of Heavy Equipment 12000
and Operatores, Fencing and Site
Security
Miscellaneous Expenses 4000
839500
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Figure 5
Map Showing New York City Landmarks
and Original Shoreline
Stokes (1916,

Source:



_ . o TR AR g
% LoONCGE " [SLELAND-#

Figure 6a
The Duke’s Plan (1664)
Scale of Original: 1"=200"

Figure 6b
. The Duke’s Plan (1664) - Detail
Scale of Original: 1"=200'




10’ - Johannes Hardenbrook

17 - Philip French and Brandt Schuyler
15-16 - Daniel Latham and Thomas Richardson
11-14 - Clement Ellsworth

10 - Daniel Latham and Thomas Richardson
5-9 - Philip French and Brandt Schuyer

Figure 7
1701 Water Lot Grants - Block 106
Not to Scale




Figure 8a
The Burgis View (1719-1721)
Source: Stokes (1915 I:Plate 25)

. Figure 8b

Key to Burgis View
Source: Stokes (1915 I:132)
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Figure 9
Source
Scale of Original:



Figure 10
1755 Duyckinck/Maerschalck Map
Source: Andrews (1500)
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Figure 11

(1766)

: Ratzer

Source
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Figure 12
Advertisement for Pier/Graves Coppersmiths
Source: Trow’s New York City Commercial Report (1873:39)




Perris (1855)

Figure 13

Source:
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Figure 14
Source: Perris (1857)
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Figure 15
Source: Morgan (1856)
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Figure 16

Source:




Figure 17
Source: Dripps (1867)
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Figure 18
Pidgeon (1881

Source:
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Figure 19
Source: Sanborn (1894:5)




Figure 20
Source: Bromely (1920)
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Figure 21
Sanborn (1923:23)




Figure 22
Source: Ullitz (1950)




Pearl St.
#338

A 338 Pearl St. ca. 1780's-1880's

B 338 Pearl St. ca. 1780's-1880's
and #2-#4 Dover St. ca.
1830's-1890's

C 276 Water St. ca. 1780's-1840's

#2 and #6-#10 Dover St. ca. 1860's-
1890's .

D 276 Water St. ca. 1780's-1840's

E 278 Water St. ca 1780's-1860's

#4 and #8-#12 Dover St.
D ca. 1780's/90's-1860"'s
o
v
#6 e
r
S
| #8 t
b o
e
#103

#12

|
- — — b

#276 #278
Water Street

Figure 23
Backyard Areas Within Block 106, Lot 22
Scale: 1"=30"

Backyard Areas
—— Present Lot 22 Boundaries




PLATES



Plate 1

South End of Study Area
North from South of Side Water Street

View



Plate 2

North End of Study Area
View South from West Side of Dover Street




Plate 3
North End of Study Area
View South from North Side of Pearl Street
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Plate 4
Foundation Wall - North Portion of Former
Site of #276 Water Street
View North




Plate S
Former Location of #6 Dover Street
Backyard area of #274 Water Street in Backgound
View Northwest




#274 Water Street

Plate 6
Southwest from Rear of #6 Dover Street

Open Backyard Area at Rear of #274 Water Street

Showing Basement of

View
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Open Backyard Area at Rear of #274 Water Street
Showing Basement Wall of Former Back Building at #336 Pearl Street
View Northwest from Rear of #6 Dover Street




APPENDIX A

LOT OCCUPATION HISTORIES:

1789 -

1850



1808

1820

1825

1830

1840

1850

n. l.
n.r.
h&l

#2
Tax Assessments
Samuel Osgood
Sarah Dawson h&l

George Stavers h&l?
John Sweeny

Widov Stavers
n.1l.
n.l.
n.1l.

William Hall h&l

William Hall h&l

- not listed
- data not recorded
house and lot

DOVER STREET

Directories

4 1

3 Cherry Street
widow of Abraham Dawson

marinex
laborer

n. r

musical instrument maker
1l Franklin Sq., h. 2 Dover

n.l.

St.



1799
1802

1808

1820

1825

1830
1831

1840

1850

n.l.
n. r.
h&l

#4 DOVER STREET

Tax Assessments

Hardenbrook Estate (house)
Joseph Conkiline in do.

Christian Claus h&l
William Shaw h&l?

John Dun h&l
Arthur Oliver

Henry Fanning (stable}

Edmund Elmendorf (stable)

Joseph Curtis (stable)
Samuel Cowdrey, E=sq. (stable}

E. Porter h&l, merchant

Bertha Blanco hé&l

- not listed
- data not recorded
house and lot

Directories

n.r
musical instrument maker
taobacconist

n. l.
n.l.

merchant 183 Pearl St., h. 21
Provoast St.

Eleazar Porter, merchant
212 Water 5t., h. 4 Dover St.

Bartholome Blanco, importer
107 Pearl St., h. 4 Dover St.



#6 DOVER STREET

Year Tax Assessments Directories
1789 Henry Kip merchant, 25 King St.
1792 John Hertell gauger, 7 Dover St.
Martin Lamb painter and glazer
Jos. Youngs stable phyesician, 3 Dover St.
1799 Henry Thorne h&l boat builder, 280 Water S5t.
6 Dover St.
1802 Robert Wright h&l boarding housge
1808 Richard Chew h&l Tavern and Boarding House
1820 Thoma=z Williamsa Boarding House
1825 Edmund Elmendorf h&l n.r.
1830 Edmund Elmendorf (stable) 48 Ligpenard, h. Red Hook
Landing
1831 Edmund Elmendorf (buildings n.r.
erecting)
1840 Francis Dubcis h&l, watchmaker Engine Turner 199 Fulton
h. 6 Daover
1850 Bertha Blanco h&l Bartholome Blanco, importer

107 Pearl St., h. 4 Dover St.

n.1l. - not listed
n.r. - data not recorded
h&l - house and lot



1799

1802

1808

1820

1825

1830

1831

1840

1850

n.l.
n.r.
h&l

#8 DOVER STREET

Tax Assessments

Henry Kip
Kelly in do.

Kipa Estate
John Allen in do.

John Hertell Sr. h&l
John Hertell
Frederick Devoe

Alip Taylor

Edmund Elmendorf h&l

Edmund Elmendarf (stable)

Edmund Elmendorf (buildings
erecting)

Bertha Blanco h&l

Bertha Blanco h&l

- not listed
- data not recorded

houge and lot

Directories

merchant, 23 King St.
shipwright

shipwvright

gauger & John Hertell Jr.
gauger

n.l.

Ann Taylor, widow, #8 Dover

N.X.

48 Lispenard, h. Red Hook
Landing

n.r.
Bartholome Blanco, merchant
87 Front, h. 8 Dover

Bartholome Blanco, importer
107 Pearl St., h. 4 Dover St.



#10 DOVER STREET

Year Tax Assessments Directories
1789 Henry Kip merchant, 25 King St.
T. Johnson in do. n.1l.

1792 Kipae Estate -———

1799 n.  me=—

1802 n.1l. =i

1808 n.1l. -——

1820 n.l. ——--

1825 n.1l, -——-

1830 n.1l, -—--

1831 Edmund Elmendorf (buildings= n.r.

erecting)

1840 R. Leggett h&l Mary Leggett, widow of Reub.,
drygoods, 432 Pearl, h. 10
Dover

1850 Adams hé&l n.1l.

n.l. - not lisasted

n.r. - data not recorded

h&1 - house and lot



1808

1820

1825

1830

1831

1836

1840

1850

n.1l.
Nn.X.
h&l -

#12 DOVER STREET

Tax Asgegsments

T o e v e e —

Wm. Hertell store & lot

Hamilton Hunter, bsaker

Hamilton Hunter, bake shop

John Brown, bake h.
n.l.

Robert Gracie, lot
Robert Gracie, lot

N. .

H. Williams, gentleman

Adams h&l

- not listed
- data not recorded
house and lot

baker, 12 Dovef & 3 Skinner

baker, 3 Cliff & 12 Dover

hard bread baker

n. 1.

Hezekiah Williams, provisioner

363 Pearl, h. 12 Dover

Hezekiah Williams, 12 Daover

n-1.



1a08

1820

1825

1830

1840

1850

n. l.

n.T.
h&l -

Tax Assessmentsa

Henry Kip
n.r.

George Mills h&l
John Thorpe in dao.

#278 WATER

John B. Gilliotti h&l

(listed at 276 Water - posesibly

an error)
John B. Ghighotty

David Adams
John Morrow

Augustus Heath h&l
Augustus Heath h&l
John Dunkin
John Dunkin

- not listed

- data not recorded
house and lot

STREET
Directories

merchant, 253 King St.

grocer
tailor

n.1l.

grocer, 270 Water

shoemaker
tailor

n.r.
grocer
152 Front,

h. 70 Amity

n.r.



1799

1802

1808

1820

1825

1830

1836

1840

1850

n.l.
n.r.
h&l -

#276 WATER STREET

Tax Assessments

Thomaa Arden
Wm. Spread in do.

n.r.

Jacob Friday h&l
John B. Gilliotti h&l
Jaceb Friday h&l
George Hamilton

F.H. Smith h&l

H. Hamon h&l

Edward O’Donnell h&l
H. Hitchecock hil

nNn.r.

Edward O’Donnell h&l 276 Water
Pier h&l 276 1/2

Benjamin F.
Water
Estate of Joel Post (stable
in rear - tax lot 568)

W.H. Graves h&l 276 Water

Benj. S. Pier 276 1/2 Water

(tax lot
568)

Barth. Blanco Rear

- not listed

- data not recorded
house and lot

Directories

merchant, 23 Beekman

shopkeeper

grocer
n. l.
grocer & 274 Water

grocer, 276 Water, h. 288

Broadway

N.T.
N.T.

shoemaker
grocer

Benjamin F. Pier coppersmith

276 1/2 Water, h. 8& Stanton
(Sylvester Pier coppersmith,
86 Stanton)

shoemaker 276 Water
coppersmith 276 1/2 Water, h.
18 Ridge

William H. Graves, coppersmith
276 1/2 Water, h. Bklyn

n.l. (Sylvester Pier, late
coppersmith, 86 Stanton)



1802

laoa

1820

1825

1830

1840
1850
n.l.

n,r.
h&l -

#338 PEARL STREET

Tax Asgessments

Thomas Arden
¥Wm. Kidd in do.

Thomas Arden
Wm Kidson in do.

Robert de Grove h&l
Adolph de Grove in do.
John Hall in do.

Frederick Devou

John L. Norton h&l

Henry Fanning hé&l

Samuel Cowdrey h&l

Hannah B. Hawthurst h&l
Gideon Howland

Daniel Trimble

Samuel Cowvdrey

A. Bunce h&l

Mrg. Eliza Cowdrey h&l
- not listed -

- data not recorded
houge and lot

Directories

merchant, 23 Beekman
William Kidson, cabinet maker

n.r.
Nn.r.

hatter
hatter
n.l.

n. l. {mentioned in an
1808 deed (Liber 98:91) as
a grocer

338 Pearl St.

merchant, 183 Pearl, h. 21
Provoost

n.r.

boardinghouse, 338 Pearl
merchant 172 Frent, h.

338 Pearl

merchant 74 Pine, h. 338 Pearl
Attorney & couns. 338 Pearl, h.
29 Bond

boardinghouse, 338 Pearl

n.l.



APPENDIX B

DOVER STREET BORING LOCATICONS AND LOGS
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